No. 70225-4-I

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national association,

Petitioner,

٧.

KENNETH TREIGER, a married person as to his separate estate,

Respondent,

and

J'AMY LYN OWENS, an unmarried person; SHULKIN HUTTON, INC., P.S., a Washington professional service corporation; EDMUND JOHN WOOD; and IN REM AGAINST ANY AND ALL SEPARATE PROPERTY OF J'AMY LYN OWENS AWARDED TO KENNETH TREIGER;

Defendants.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

SCHWEET LINDE & COULSON, PLLC

Thomas S. Linde, WSBA #14426 Zachary E. Davies, WSBA #41794 575 South Michigan Street Seattle, WA 98108 (206) 275-1010 JAN - 2 2014

CLERK OF THE SUPPLEME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

## A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Bank of America, N.A. (Bank of America) asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion terminating review designated in Part B of this Petition.

# **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Bank of America requests review of the decision filed October 14, 2013. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-2 through -14.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does a divorce court have the power to award the separate property of Spouse A to Spouse B free and clear of the equitable claims of Spouse A's creditors existing at the time of the award?
- 2. Is a claim that has been ruled moot by the trial court deemed abandoned if it is not raised or argued on appeal?
- 3. Did the trial court contravene the mandate of this Court or violate the law of the case doctrine by ruling on a preserved claim that had not been addressed on appeal?

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 1998, while married to Respondent Kenneth Treiger, Defendant J'Amy Lyn Owens personally guaranteed two commercial loans from Bank of America's predecessor to her company The Retail Group, Inc. (II CP 3-5, 38-40, 44-45.) In June 2000, Treiger and Owens purchased Seattle real property (Maplewood). (II CP 410.) In February 2001, they filed for divorce. (II CP 410.) In January 2002, Owens failed to

honor her guaranties after her defunct company defaulted on its debt. (II CP 5-7.) In early 2002, during the pendency of the dissolution action, each spouse filed a separate bankruptcy petition. (II CP 410.) In April 2004, Maplewood became Owens's separate property after she bought out the interest in it held by the trustee of Treiger's bankruptcy estate. (II CP 410-12.) Eventually, Treiger's debts were discharged in bankruptcy, but Owens's debts were not, due to the dismissal of her bankruptcy case. (II CP 106, 108, 411.) In May 2006, the divorce court entered a supplemental decree that ordered the sale of Maplewood and awarded half of the net proceeds of that sale to Treiger. (II CP 411.)

In July 2006, Bank of America sued Owens for breaching her guaranties. (II CP 3-21.) In November 2006, Bank of America amended its Complaint to assert an in rem claim against any and all separate property of Owens awarded to Treiger in their dissolution action, including any interest in Maplewood. (II CP 32-50.) In December 2006, Bank of America attached Owens's interest in Maplewood. (II CP 411.) After Maplewood sold in May 2007, the net proceeds of the sale were placed into a trust account pending a declaratory judgment regarding the priority and extent of claims asserted against the proceeds by Owens, Treiger, Bank of America, and Owens's attorney, Defendant Shulkin Hutton, Inc., P.S. (I CP 147, II CP 411-12.) Bank of America then brought an action for

a declaratory judgment. (II CP 196-207, 354.) In December 2007, judgment was entered against Owens for \$593,519.24 in the first lawsuit. (II CP 533-36.). In the declaratory action, Bank of America and Treiger both moved for summary judgment. In April 2008, the trial court granted Bank of America's Motion and denied Treiger's. (I CP 284-296.)

In May 2008, the trial court entered an Order disbursing the Maplewood proceeds. (II CP 515-18.) The Order expressly rules that Bank of America's in rem claim was moot due to the ruling on lien priority:

Bank of America's *in rem* claim against any and all separate property of J'Amy Lyn Owens awarded to Kenneth Treiger alleged in Bank of America's Amended Complaint under cause number 06-2-23098[]-1 SEA, consolidated herein, has not been adjudicated but is rendered moot by entry of the Order Granting Bank of America's Motion for Summary Judgment. Bank of America's *in rem* claim will be hereafter preserved and tolled in the event of an appeal of this Court's Order Granting Bank of America's Motion for Summary Judgment.

(II CP 518.) Treiger then appealed without assigning error to the trial court's ruling that the in rem claim was moot. (I CP 297-303, II CP 412, 414.) In November 2009, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's ruling on lien priority, holding that Treiger's supplemental decree had priority over Bank of America's writ of attachment. (II CP 407-20.) In October 2011, this Court affirmed in part and reversed in part, agreeing with the lien priority of the Court of Appeals, albeit on a different ground.

(II CP 347.) The Court's sole direction to the trial court upon remand was contained in the final sentence of the majority opinion: "We remand this case to the superior court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion." (II CP 347.)

On remand, Bank of America moved for summary judgment on its preserved in rem claim, which was no longer moot due to the reversal of the trial court's ruling on lien priority. (I CP 303, II CP 208-64.) Treiger filed a Motion to Enter Judgment on Mandate and for Taxable Costs. (II CP 265-321.) In May 2012, the trial court granted Bank of America's Motion and denied Treiger's. (II CP 455-60.) The court entered judgment for Bank of America in rem in the amount of \$308,990.37, which is the portion of the Maplewood proceeds disbursed to Bank of America in May 2008 with priority over Treiger's claims, based on its status as an existing separate creditor of Owens at the time of the May 2006 award of her separate property to Treiger. (II CP 457.) The trial court also expressly reallocated the May 2008 disbursements "in accordance with the Supreme Court's ruling in this case . . . . " (II CP 457.)

In June 2012, Treiger appealed the trial court's ruling on the in rem claim. (II CP 451-54.) He also moved this Court to recall its Mandate, alleging that the trial court had "refused to follow this Court's mandate, entering a judgment for the Bank identical in effect to the one reversed by

this Court . . . ." (Mot. to Recall Mandate and for Fees 1-2.) Treiger's mandate recall motion was unanimously denied by this Court. (Order, July 12, 2012, Case No. 84044-0.) In April 2013, this Court denied direct review. (Order, April 4, 2013, Case No. 87455-7). On October 14, 2013, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's Order granting summary judgment to Bank of America on its in rem claim and remanded for entry of judgment in favor of Treiger. (Appendix at A-2 to -14.)

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review for three reasons. First, in contravention of well settled case law and both the Washington and U.S. Constitutions, the Court of Appeals has held that a divorce court may deprive a creditor of its equitable claim against a spouse's separate property by awarding the property to the other spouse free and clear of the equitable claims of the first spouse's existing separate creditors. This ruling violates the constitutional rights of creditors by: (1) allowing divorce courts to strip creditors' rights through contested property dissolutions without notice to and participation of those creditors, and (2) providing a windfall to the awarded spouse that existing law prohibits the spouse from obtaining through voluntary transfers and agreements.

Second, the Court of Appeals ruled that Bank of America abandoned its in rem claim by not raising it on appeal, even though it

obtained a favorable ruling of mootness. This ruling conflicts with Washington case law indicating that a ruling of mootness fully disposes of a claim and is properly appealed from by the party aggrieved by the ruling, not by the party whom it favors.

Finally, in deciding that the trial court thwarted the direction of this Court in adjudicating the preserved in rem claim after remand, the Court of Appeals comes into conflict with this Court's unanimous refusal to recall the Mandate. Moreover, this decision conflicts with case law holding that a trial court does not err, after remand, by exercising its discretion in adjudicating a claim that has not been addressed on appeal.

# 1. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Held that Divorce Courts Can Constitutionally Award Separate Property from One Spouse to Another Free and Clear of Existing Equitable Claims of Creditors.

This Court should review the decision of the Court of Appeals because its construction of a divorce court's powers under RCW 26.09.080 raises significant questions of law involving the Due Process Clause, Equal Protection Clause, and the Contract Clause. First, the decision below implicates the Due Process Clause, which prohibits the deprivation of property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV § 1; Const. art. I, § 3. Before a court can extinguish a person's property interest in an action, the Due Process Clause requires joinder of that person in the action. See Brost v. L.A.N.D., Inc., 37 Wn. App. 372,

374, 680 P.2d 453 (1984) (citing *Valentine v. Portland Timber & Land Holding Co.*, 15 Wn. App. 124, 128, 547 P.2d 912 (1976); G. Osborne, *Mortgages* § 321 (2d ed. 1970)). "At a bare minimum, procedural due process 'requires notice and an opportunity to be heard." *In re Bush*, 164 Wn.2d 697, 704-05, 193 P.3d 103 (2008) (quoting *Soundgarden v. Eikenberry*, 123 Wn.2d 750, 768, 871 P.2d 1050 (1994)).

A basic tenet of divorce law is that only the spouses are parties to the proceeding; their creditors are not. A court presiding over a dissolution has no jurisdiction over the creditors of the spouses and thus has no ability to modify the rights of those creditors. As this Court recognized in *Arneson v. Arneson*, 38 Wn.2d 99, 227 P.2d 1016 (1951), this rule protects the rights of creditors under the Due Process Clause. In *Arneson*, a divorce court decreed that certain real property be sold and that the proceeds be applied to taxes, existing liens, with the remainder prorated to creditors in the amounts of their respective claims. *Id.* at 100. In reversing the decree, the Court emphasized this important principle:

[The parties'] several interests in the property are, of course, determined, as between themselves, by the decree, and are subject to the burdens imposed upon them therein for purposes within the scope of the divorce act. As to the common law rules of jurisdiction, we know of none which empowers the court to encroach upon civil rights simply because persons are parties to a divorce action.

Id. at 101. In other words, a dissolution decree is binding on the spouses, whose rights it determines, but it cannot bind creditors. Because creditors have no opportunity to be heard in dissolution proceedings, Washington courts have long held that a divorce court lacks the power to strip their existing equitable claims from property awards between spouses. See Watters v. Doud, 95 Wn.2d 835, 631 P.2d 369 (1981); Baffin Land Corp. v. Monticello Motor Inn, Inc., 70 Wn.2d 893, 425 P.2d 623 (1967); Dizard & Getty v. Damson, 63 Wn.2d 526, 387 P.2d 964 (1964); Farrow v. Ostrom, 16 Wn.2d 547, 133 P.2d 974 (1943); Capital Nat'l Bank of Olympia v. Johns, 170 Wash. 250, 16 P.2d 452 (1932); McLean v. Burginger, 100 Wash. 570, 171 P. 518 (1918); In re Marriage of McKean, 110 Wn. App. 191, 38 P.3d 1053 (2002); In re Marriage of Soriano, 44 Wn. App. 420, 722 P.2d 132 (1986). It is also well settled in Washington jurisprudence that a creditor with an equitable claim on the property of a spouse has a superior interest in the property than does the former spouse awarded that property by a divorce court, even if the claim is unliquidated and unsecured at the time of the property award. Watters, 95 Wn.2d 835; Farrow, 16 Wn.2d 547.

Spouses may not divest property during their marriage to the detriment of their creditors. A spouse's separate property is his or hers to manage "in the same manner as though he or she were unmarried." RCW

26.16.010. Should Spouse A fraudulently transfer separate property to Spouse B (or another non-spouse insider), an aggrieved creditor can avoid the transfer under the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act. Chapter 19.40 RCW. Likewise, as to their community property, spouses may not "affect any existing equity in favor of creditors" or "derogate from the right of creditors" through conveyance of property or the creation of community property agreements. RCW 26.16.050, .120. The Court of Appeals' ruling encourages collusive divorces by empowering divorce courts to strip separate creditors of their equitable claims against separate property awarded a non-liable spouse. Creditors, not proper parties in a dissolution proceeding, will be left without redress.

Aside from these policy concerns, this Court's review is justified by the plain error made by the Court of Appeals regarding when the respective claims of the parties to the separate Maplewood proceeds arose. Bank of America's equitable claim against Owens's separate property arose in 2002 when she breached her guaranty to pay the debt owed to Bank of America by her company. Bank of America later secured this equitable claim by obtaining a writ of attachment, but the equitable claim existed well before the writ attached. Thus, the Court of Appeals incorrectly held that Treiger's equitable lien on the Maplewood proceeds arose before Bank of America's equitable claim on those proceeds arose.

Bank of America's equitable claim arose in 2002 and any separate property of Owens awarded to Treiger in 2006 by the divorce court was subject to Bank of America's pre-existing equitable claim.

The court that dissolved the marriage of Owens and Treiger did not have jurisdiction over Bank of America or the power to deprive it of its existing equitable claim against Owens's separate property awarded to Treiger. The Court of Appeals, in ruling in favor of Treiger on the in rem claim, has given RCW 26.09.080 an unreasonable construction which flies in the face of nearly a century of Washington case law and tramples on Bank of America's right, under both the federal and state constitutions, to due process of law.

Second, the ruling below causes RCW 26.09.080 to violate the equal protection clauses of the federal and state constitutions, which prohibit unjust discrimination between similarly situated persons. U.S. Const. amend. XIV § 1; Const. art. I, § 12. The application of a law violates these clauses when the application creates an arbitrary classification. *State v. Simmons*, 152 Wn.2d 450, 458, 98 P.3d 789 (2004). Moreover, "[a] valid law, administered in a manner that unjustly discriminates between similarly situated persons, violates equal protection." *State v. Gaines*, 121 Wn. App. 687, 705, 90 P.3d 1095 (2004) (citing *State v. Handley*, 115 Wn.2d 275, 289, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990)).

Whether the principles enunciated in the cases involving community creditors against property awarded in divorce apply to separate creditors is a matter of first impression. Under the decision below, the principles in favor of community creditors do not apply to separate creditors. (Appendix A-14.) Thus, a separate creditor like Bank of America can be deprived of its equitable claim on separate property awarded to another spouse in a dissolution proceeding, but a community creditor is protected from such deprivation under the line of Washington cases discussed above. The Court of Appeals' opinion has created an arbitrary classification: creditors with equitable claims on community property and creditors with equitable claims on separate property. The former enjoy the protections of cases such as *Farrow* and *Arneson*, while the latter are subject to the deprivation of their property interests without notice or hearing.

There is no rational basis for this disparate treatment. A separate asset subject to a separate debt should be treated identically to a community asset subject to a community debt. In each case, any existing equitable claims by a creditor against the asset travel with the asset when it is awarded to a non-liable spouse in a dissolution decree. The statute itself does not distinguish between community and separate property; either can be awarded to either spouse if the equities of the case demand it.

RCW 26.09.080. While the statute is constitutional is on its face, the Court of Appeals' application of it here violates the Equal Protection Clause.

Finally, the ruling implicates the Contracts Clause because it holds that a divorce court may impair the contractual rights of creditors. U.S. Const. art. I, § 10, cl. 1; Const. art. I, § 23. "[E]ven minimal impairment of contractual expectations violates the contract clause where there is no real exercise of police power to justify the impairment." *Birkenwald Distrib. Co. v. Heublein, Inc.*, 55 Wn. App. 1, 9, 776 P.2d 721 (1989). Bank of America's contractual rights have been drastically impaired by the Court of Appeals' application of RCW 26.09.080. Pursuant to the ruling below, the divorce court's award of Owens's separate property to Treiger decimated Bank of America's right to collect the debt owed by Owens from the separate property awarded. This impairment is not supported by a valid exercise of the police power.

# 2. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Regarding Bank of America's Obligation to Appeal a Favorable Ruling of Mootness Conflicts with Another Decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals also erred in holding that Bank of America abandoned its in rem claim by not raising it in the first appeal. The scope of review is determined by the appellant. RAP 2.4(a). A respondent may ask the appellate court to review acts which may prejudice it if repeated upon remand, but there is no obligation to do so. *Id.* Nor did RAP 2.5(a)

require Bank of America to raise the in rem claim as an alternate ground for affirming the trial court's lien priority ruling. This rule is expressly permissive: "A party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground." RAP 2.5(a).

Treiger, not Bank of America, was the appellant in the first appeal. The scope of review was limited to the issues raised by him. He did not appeal the trial court's ruling that the in rem claim was moot, as was his obligation if he was displeased with it. As such, it became a final, non-appealable order, and the law of the case. As the party who obtained the favorable mootness ruling, Bank of America had no obligation to urge that the ruling be reviewed on appeal.

The holding below regarding Bank of America's abandonment of its in rem claim conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals. See Coal. on Gov't Spying v. King County Dep't of Pub. Safety, 59 Wn. App. 856, 801 P.2d 1009 (1990), overruled on other grounds by Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005). In that case, the appellant, aggrieved by the trial court's ruling that a certain issue was moot, appealed that ruling. Id. at 865-66. The Court of Appeals agreed with the appellant that the issue was not moot and reversed. Id. at 866. That decision is in direct conflict with the decision of

the Court of Appeals in this case, which improperly put the burden of appealing the mootness ruling on Bank of America, which was not aggrieved by it. In addition, *Coalition on Government Spying* demonstrates that: (1) for the purposes of CR 54(b), the mootness ruling fully and substantively disposed of the in rem claim prior to the first appeal; (2) Treiger could have appealed the ruling; (3) his failure to do so resulted in the ruling becoming the law of the case; and (4) the in rem claim was not abandoned, but was instead properly preserved for later determination in the event the trial court was later reversed.

# 3. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Holding that the Trial Court's Ruling on the Preserved In Rem Claim Violated the Law of the Case Doctrine Conflicts with this Court's Decisions.

The trial court strictly followed this Court's Mandate when it used its discretion to adjudicate the preserved in rem claim upon remand. "[T]he language 'we remand for further proceedings' signals [the appellate] court's expectation that the trial court will exercise its discretion to decide any issue necessary to resolve the case." *In re Marriage of Rockwell*, 157 Wn. App. 449, 453, 238 P.3d 1184 (2010) (citing *State v. Schwab*, 134 Wn. App. 635, 645, 141 P.3d 658 (2006)). This type of remand is distinguished from the type in which the appellate court directs the trial court to do a specific act, such as enter a judgment in a certain amount or enter a specific order. *Harp v. Am. Sur. Co. of N.Y.*, 50 Wn.2d

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