No. 89717-4

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 13, 2013, 1:30 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY

No. 70225-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national association,

Petitioner, v.

KENNETH TREIGER, a married person as to his separate estate,

Respondent,

J'AMY LYN OWENS, an unmarried person, SHULKIN, HUTTON, INC., P.S. a Washington professional service corporation; and EDMUND JOHN WOOD,

Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. No. 34515

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

On remand, the trial court granted the Bank's motion for a "judgment *in rem* in the amount of \$308,990.37¹, as an existing separate creditor of Ms. Owens at the time of the divorce court awarding a portion of her separate property to Mr. Treiger." *Bank of America, N.A. v. Owens,* _____ Wn. App. _, ¶ 18, 311 P.3d 594, 598 (2013). In direct contradiction to this Court's decision, the trial court ruled that "Bank of America's *in rem* judgment is superior to

¹ The amount differs from the amount Trieger was "shorted" in the distribution because of the treatment of other collateral judgments Treiger had obtained against Owens that are no longer at issue.

the claims of Mr. Treiger therein" and allowed the Bank to satisfy its "*in rem* judgment" from Treiger's half of the proceeds of sale. (II CP 457)

Treiger moved to recall the mandate, and appealed a second time. This Court denied the motion to recall² and directed Division One to decide Treiger's appeal. 311 P.3d at 598, ¶ 19. On October 14, 2013, Division One once again reversed, holding that this Court's mandate granting priority to Treiger in the sale proceeds over the Bank was the "law of the case," 311 P.3d at 599, ¶¶ 24, 25, and that in any event Treiger's equitable interest in the proceeds, as established by the supplemental decree of dissolution, was "first in time, [thus] first in right" and had priority over the Bank's supposed

² Contrary to the Bank's claim, this Court did not make a substantive determination whether the trial court complied with the law of the case by denying the motion to recall the mandate. (Petition 20) As the Bank noted in its answer to Treiger's motion to recall the mandate, the "question of compliance by the trial court may be raised by motion to recall the mandate or by initiating a separate review of the lower court decision." (Answer 14, *citing* RAP 12.9(a)) By denying the motion, this Court directed the parties to pursue a separate review. This is no different than the procedural posture in *Humphrey Industries, Ltd. v. Clay Street Associates, LLC,* discussed in the first argument section below at 10-12, in which this Court also denied appellant's motion to recall the mandate (*see* Docket for Case no. 826871), but ultimately concluded after a "separate review" that the trial court had not complied with its mandate and reversed the decision on remand - just as the Court of Appeals did in this case.

in rem claim based on its unsecured loan to Owens. 311 P.3d at 600, $\P 28$.

The Bank once again petitions for review.

C. Grounds for Denying Review.

There is no basis under RAP 13.4 for this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision holding that Treiger's interest in the sale proceeds had priority over any interest of the Bank – *in rem* or otherwise. Division One's decision was compelled by this Court's decision in the earlier appeal and is consistent with this Court's decisions in *Humphrey Industries, Ltd. v. Clay Street Associates, LLC,* 176 Wn.2d 662, 669-71, ¶¶ 13-16, 295 P.3d 231 (2013), holding that a trial court must comply with the Court's decision on remand, and *Griggs v. Averback Realty, Inc.,* 92 Wn.2d 576, 586, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979), holding that a creditor that has an unsecured claim against only one spouse cannot satisfy the debt from property conveyed to the other spouse on divorce.

The Bank fails to address any of these decisions, and in fact does not even cite to RAP 13.4 in asking this Court to accept review. Because the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with decisions from this Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1)), does not raise any significant constitutional questions (RAP 13.4(b)(3)), and is not an issue of substantial public import (RAP 13.4(b)(4)), this Court should deny review.

1. Division One's decision that Treiger's priority in the sale proceeds was the law of the case is consistent with this Court's recent decision in *Humphrey Industries*.

This Court held in the first appeal that the Supplemental Decree of Dissolution "entitled Kenneth Treiger to one-half of the proceeds of the Maplewood property before satisfaction of Bank of America's lien," and remanded "to the superior court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion." 173 Wn.2d at 54-55, ¶¶ 29, 30. The Bank's petition does not even cite, much less address, this Court's decisions on which Division One relied in holding that the law of the case required the trial court to give priority to Treiger's interest in the proceeds, including this Court's recent decision in Humphrey Industries, Ltd. v. Clay Street Associates, LLC, 176 Wn.2d 662, 295 P.3d 231 (2013) (Humphrey (II)), after remand from 170 Wn.2d 495, 508, ¶ 24, 242 P.3d 846 (2010) (Humphrey (I)). Division One properly concluded that this Court's ruling was the law of the case and that the trial court's discretion on remand was limited to allowing Treiger to satisfy his liens before, and without any claim from, the Bank. 311 P.3d at 599, ¶ 24.

In *Humphrey*, the trial court had previously ordered appellant Humphrey to pay attorney fees based on a finding that Humphrey acted arbitrarily, vexatiously, and not in good faith. The trial court also denied Humphrey's request for fees against respondent Clay under the LLC Act, finding that Clay substantially complied with the Act and that an award of fees was not warranted.

This Court reversed both attorney fee orders and held that "given the circumstances of this case, the record does not establish that Humphrey's actions were arbitrary, vexatious, and not in good faith." *Humphrey (I)*, 170 Wn.2d at 508, ¶ 24. This Court also held that Clay had not substantially complied with the LLC Act, that the trial court could award fees under the Act to Humphrey, and "remand[ed] for reconsideration of the attorney fee award." *Humphrey (I)*, 170 Wn.2d at 498, 507, ¶¶ 2, 21.

On remand from this Court, the trial court awarded Humphrey some fees, based on this Court's decision that Clay had not substantially complied with the LLC Act. But the trial court also reinstated a portion of the fee award against Humphrey that this Court had vacated, on the grounds that there was "significant other evidence" in the record that supported its earlier finding that Humphrey had acted arbitrarily.

On Humphrey's second appeal, this Court reversed once again, holding that the trial court had no authority and had violated the law of the case by reinstating an award of fees that this Court had previously vacated. *Humphrey (II)*, 176 Wn.2d at 671, ¶ 16. As Division One recognized, the trial court in this case similarly violated the law of the case. 311 P.3d at 600, ¶ 24. The trial court had no authority on remand to effectively grant the Bank priority over Treiger in the Maplewood proceeds contrary to this Court's determination that because "the Supplemental Decree was entered and recorded prior to the Bank's prejudgment writ of attachment, Treiger's lien has priority." 173 Wn.2d at 50, ¶ 19.

In holding that the trial court's ruling giving the Bank priority "thwarted" this Court's ruling, and was thus error, 311 P.3d at 599, ¶ 25, Division One also looked to this Court's decision in *National Bank of Washington v. Equity Investors*, 83 Wn.2d 435, 518 P.2d 1072 (1974) for guidance – another case not cited or addressed in the Petition. In *National Bank*, the trial court had determined the priorities of three lien holders: the Bank, MacDonald, and Columbia – in that order. Columbia appealed, asserting that its lien had priority over the Bank's. The Supreme Court agreed that Columbia's "materialman's lien is superior to the

bank's lien for later advances, and accordingly reverse[d]." National Bank, 83 Wn.2d at 438 (quoting its earlier decision at 81 Wn.2d 886, 927, 506 P.2d 20 (1973)).

On remand, the result of the first appeal was that the priority should have been: Columbia, the Bank, and MacDonald. The trial court nevertheless gave MacDonald's lien priority over Columbia's on remand, based on MacDonald's claim that since Columbia had not appealed the trial court's earlier ruling that MacDonald (who was junior to the Bank) was prior to Columbia, it was now the "law of the case." This Court reversed again, holding that MacDonald could not "thwart the direction of this court that Columbia be paid in full from the proceeds of the foreclosure sale," as its earlier decision clearly "intended Columbia's lien claim for materials furnished to be satisfied in full from the proceeds of the foreclosure sale prior to the Bank's lien claim." *National Bank*, 83 Wn.2d at 442.

Ignoring these cases, the Bank relies on this Court's decision in *Monroe v. Winn*, 19 Wn.2d 462, 142 P.2d 1022 (1943), arguing that on remand a trial court has discretion to "rul[e] against the successful appellant on an issue closely related to the overturned ruling." (Petition 19-20) But in *Monroe*, the trial court did not

reinstate an earlier ruling that this Court had vacated, as the trial court did here. Instead, the trial court in *Monroe* did exactly what this Court directed it to do – it reinstated former trustees who had been removed in the orders reversed on appeal, while at the same time deciding the acting trustee's request for fees incurred while the appeal was pending. That is a far cry from what the trial court did here, reinstating the Bank's priority over Treiger that this Court had expressly rejected in the first appeal. And far worse than in *National Equity*, it did so for the benefit of a party, the Bank, that this Court had clearly ruled could take only after Treiger's lien was satisfied.

As Division One properly concluded, if the Bank wished to pursue its *in rem* claim to seek priority over Treiger, it "could and should have raised the *in rem* claim in the first appeal. Having failed to do so, the Bank abandoned that claim. The trial court erred by allowing the Bank to sit on its *in rem* theory and raise it upon not prevailing on its initial theory. Doing so flies squarely in the face of the indisputable policy against allowing piecemeal appeals." 311 P.3d at 600, ¶ 27. Nor does *Coalition on Government Spying v. King County Dept. of Public Safety*, 59 Wn. App. 856, 801 P.2d 1009 (1990), *overruled on other grounds by Spokane*

Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005) (Petition 17) support the Bank's claim that it was up to Treiger to raise the Bank's *in rem* claim by challenging the trial court's determination that it was moot. In the *Coalition* case, it was the party whose claim was rendered moot that challenged the ruling. Here, it was the Bank whose *in rem* claim was rendered moot – and the Bank abandoned it by failing to raise it as an alternate grounds for affirmance in the first appeal. See RAP 2.5(a).

It is regrettable that, as in *Humphrey Industries*, the trial court in this case refused to comply with this Court's mandate. But the Court of Appeals corrected that error, in a well-reasoned decision that conflicts with no decisions of this or any other court, and that meets none of the RAP 13.4 criteria for review. Treiger has waited over five years, and been forced to prosecute two appeals, to realize his priority interest in sale proceeds that the Bank has held all this time. He should have to wait no longer. This Court should deny review.

2. Division One's decision that Treiger's judgment lien had priority over the Bank's *in rem* claim is consistent with this Court's decision in *Griggs*.

As Division One properly concluded, "the Supplemental Decree created an equitable lien on the Maplewood property, which is the same 'rem' against which the Bank asserts its *in rem* claim. Because Treiger's lien is first in time, it is first in right." 311 P.3d at 600, ¶ 28. Even if the trial court could have considered the Bank's *in rem* claim on the merits on remand, it was wrong in allowing the Bank to satisfy its separate judgment from property awarded to Treiger in the dissolution action. The Bank's Petition once again ignores this Court's decisional law supporting the Court of Appeals decision, failing to cite or address *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 576, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979), *cited at* 311 P.3d at 600, ¶¶ 28, 29, in which this Court held that a previously unsecured creditor could not reach property awarded to a spouse who was not liable on the debt to satisfy the obligations of a debtor spouse.

The creditor in *Griggs* sought to recover monies from a husband and wife who divorced before a judgment was entered. The creditor obtained a default judgment against each spouse individually, but not against the community. The wife successfully vacated the default judgment against her, and then prevailed in a trial on the merits against the creditor. Subsequently, the creditor sought to enforce the default judgment against the husband by executing on community property that had been distributed to the wife under the divorce decree.

This Court affirmed the trial court's order restraining execution on the wife's property, holding that the creditor was barred from collecting on the ex-husband's debt from former community property awarded to his former wife, who was not obligated to the creditor. The Court held that "when the community creditors have not obtained, *during the existence of the marriage*, a judgment against one or both of the spouses, or against the community, and when a former spouse, after termination of the marriage, prevails on the merits, then property distributed to that former spouse-even though previously community property-cannot be used to satisfy a judgment against the other former spouse." *Griggs*, 92 Wn.2d at 586 (emphasis added).

Treiger, like the spouse in *Griggs*, was not liable to the Bank. Any liability Treiger or the community had to the Bank had been discharged in Treiger's bankruptcy. Consistent with *Griggs*, the Court of Appeals in this case properly held that the trial court could not allow the Bank to satisfy Owen's *separate* unsecured debt from assets awarded to Treiger in the dissolution. *See* 311 P.3d at 600, ¶ 29.

t

ţ.

Division One's decision is not inconsistent with the cases on which the Bank relies to support its claim that it had some sort of inchoate right to the Maplewood proceeds before its writ attached. In each of those cases, an unsecured creditor was allowed to pursue payment of a *community* obligation against community property awarded to a former spouse who was also liable to the creditor. *See e.g.*, *Watters v. Doud*, 95 Wn.2d 835, 631 P.2d 369 (1981); *Baffin Land Corp. v. Monticello Motor Inn, Inc.*, 70 Wn.2d 893, 425 P.2d 623 (1967); *Dizard & Getty v. Damson*, 63 Wn.2d 526, 387 P.2d 964 (1964); *Farrow v. Ostrom*, 16 Wn.2d 547, 133 P.2d 974 (1943); *Capital Nat'l Bank of Olympia v. Johns*, 170 Wash. 250, 16 P.2d 452 (1932); *McLean v. Burginger*, 100 Wash. 570, 171 P. 518 (1918) (Petition 12). In other words, unlike in *Griggs*, or this case, the spouse from whom the creditor was seeking payment was also liable to the creditor in each of the cases relied upon by the Bank.

Finally, the Bank's due process rights are not violated by the courts' determination of lien priorities. The dissolution court did not purport "to modify the rights of [the] creditors" by awarding Treiger his interest in the sale proceeds. (Petition 11) Nor did the dissolution court's decree "extinguish" the Bank's ability to pursue payment of the unsecured obligation owed to it by Owens from *her* assets. (Petition 10) To the extent the Bank's judgment against

Owens is unsatisfied, it may still pursue its claim against Owens by levying against her existing and future property interests.

The Bank's failure to perfect its unsecured claim against Owens earlier than Treiger is not the fault of the court, or of Treiger. The Bank chose to make an unsecured loan to Owens. When she defaulted in 2002, the Bank chose to wait four years before filing an action against Owens even though it had only been paid a portion of the obligation owed from Treiger's bankruptcy estate two years earlier. The Bank must abide by its decisions to not act sooner to ensure its priority interest in Owens' assets. Its failure to do so is not a basis for this Court to accept review.

D. Conclusion.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this Court's decisions and compelled by this Court's previous decision in this case. The Bank still has its claims against Owens. If it wants to pursue satisfaction of its judgment it should do so from the party who is obligated to it. This Court should deny review.

19

ł